
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING, 

December 6th, 2023 7:00 p.m. 

Whitewater Township Hall Via ZOOM (if available) and in-person  

5777 Vinton Road, Williamsburg, MI 49690  

Phone 231-267-5141/Fax 231-267-9020 
Zoom: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81740277325?pwd=aTBXjabmbJ13SbAfubmAPn7uLZhkZR.1 

Meeting ID:  817 4027 7325 Passcode:   196828 

1. Mic Check, Call to Order, Pledge Allegiance

2. Roll Call of PC Members

3. Set/Adjust Meeting Agenda

4. Declaration of Conflict of Interest pertinent to agenda items

5. Public Comment – Any person shall be permitted to address a meeting of the PC. Public

comments shall be carried out in accordance with the following rules and procedures:

a. Comments shall be directed to the PC, with questions directed to the Chair.

b. Any person wishing to address the PC shall speak from the lectern (or use the

raise hand feature if Zoom is being utilized) and state his/her name and address.

c. Persons may address the PC on matters that are relevant to Township planning

and zoning issues.

d. No person shall be allowed to speak more than once on the same matter,

excluding the time needed to answer a PC member’s questions.

e. Public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per person.

6. Public Hearing:  None

7. Approval of Minutes of November 1, 2023.

8. Correspondence - None

9. Reports/Presentations/Announcements/Comments – Read and Review together (15

minutes)

a. Zoning Administrator – Hall

b. Chair – Steelman

c. Township Board Representative – Vollmuth

d. ZBA Representative – Wroubel

10. Unfinished Business

a. Master Plan (MP) – LIAA/Barry & ROS may participate (45 minutes)

i. Review and discuss MP Open House & Workshop Results

ii. ROS Function moving forward Discussion

iii. Drone Photos (Randy)

iv. Anything else related to MP

b. Zoning Project Update (20 minutes)

i. Zoning Map Discussion (Randy & Al)

ii. Anything else related to Zoning Project

1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81740277325?pwd=aTBXjabmbJ13SbAfubmAPn7uLZhkZR.1


c. Joint TB and PC Meeting Planning & Discussion (20 minutes)

i. 12/13 Agenda items; Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), Master

Plan Update, Zoning Project Update, FY2024/2025 Budget Discussion

11. New Business

a. Bylaws (20 minutes)

i. Amendments (Section 13)

ii. Officer Selections (Section 2.A)

12. Next Meeting/s:  Joint TB/PC Meeting 12/13 at 7pm, PC Regular Meeting 01/03 at 7pm

13. Public Comment

14. PC Discussion/Comments

a. Key Notes to share at next Regular TB Meeting (3 minutes)

b. Action Items for PC Members reviewed (3 minutes)

15. Continuing Education - none

16.  Adjournment

Whitewater Township will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services to 

individuals with disabilities who are planning to attend Contact the township supervisor at 231-

267-5141

2



Page 1 of 2 Planning Commission 11/01/2023 DRAFT 

DRAFT 
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION 

MINUTES FOR REGULAR MEETING 

November 1, 2023 

Call to Order at 7:00 p.m. 

Roll Call:  DeYoung, Jacobson, Keaton, Slopsema, Wroubel 

         Absent:  Steelman, Vollmuth 

Also in attendance:   Planner Mielnik, Recording Secretary MacLean, Members of the ROS, Barry Hicks of LIAA and 

Bryan McKenna, Superintendent of Elk Rapids Public Schools 

Two on Zoom at the start of the meeting.    

Set / Adjust Agenda:  Consensus to move Mill Creek School discussion at the end of Reports/Presentations 

Declaration of Conflict of Interest:  None 

Public Comment: None 

Public Hearing:  None 

Approval of Minutes:   

MOTION by DeYoung second by Slopsema to approve the Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes of October 4.  

Roll call vote:  Vollmuth–N/A; Jacobson-yes; Wroubel-yes; Steelman-N/A; DeYoung-yes; Slopsema-yes, Keaton-yes.   

Motion carried. 

Correspondence:  None. 

Reports and Presentations:  

Zoning Administrator Report, Hall:  None. 

Chair’s Report, Steelman:  Included in packet.  Keaton read through the presented report. 

Township Board Rep, Vollmuth:  Included in packet.     

ZBA Representative, Wroubel:  No cases in October.     

Committee Reports:  None 

Additional items:  None 

Mill Creek School presentation by Elk Rapids School Superintendent Bryan McKenna.  Information included in the 

packet.  It is a difficult but necessary discussion regarding the financial situation of the elementary school.  

Communication is of the utmost importance.  

Explanation of “in formula” and “out of formula”.  In formula is where the school is paid for each student in a seat on 

count day.  Out of formula is where funding is based strictly on the tax base.  The school district has a high number of 

students that attend Elk Rapids Schools as a “school of choice”.  

Several options have been reviewed by the school.  They are currently communicating with the State of Michigan on 

various options, one being that of turning Mill Creek into a charter / academy.  The goal is to still have Elk Rapids 

Schools provide busing and food service.    

A communication forum will be held November 3 at Mill Creek 8:30 – 9:30 a.m.  More to be announced in the future. 

Unfinished Business:  

1. Master Plan / Resident Outreach Subcommittee (ROS)

a. Review and discuss MP Open House Results, Mielnik.  We had more than 80 people participate.  Discussion

of the goals and objectives.   Run through the categories and goals as they have been presented and discussed.

b. Workshop planning and discussion, Hicks.  The plan is to rank the feedback of each of the sections from the

Open House.  Will create groups with 10-12 people in each.  At the workshop Hicks will do a brief description of

what the goal of the workshop is and will explain the ground rules, making sure all participants have their voice

heard.  LIAA will be general moderators and each group will have A “champion” who will go through the goals,

make changes, and write them up.  The group champion will present from each group with the what and why of

their discussion / decisions.  Will need to be careful that the champion does not dominate the group.  Need to hear

the voice of each person.

c. Anything else related to MP and upcoming workshop – Schedule ROS for November 30 at 9 a.m.

3



Page 2 of 2 Planning Commission 11/01/2023 DRAFT 

2. Zoning Project Update:

a. Define substantial change.  Define what is a minor change and what is a major change?  Working on clarifying

and correcting words and definitions right now not changing anything that changes an outcome.

Consensus on a definition of current zoning ordinance work:  Clarification, fix conflicts, state or federal law,

duplication and organization but does not change the spirit of the ordinance.  A substantial change is anything

beyond.

Mielnik is working on reorganization of the zoning ordinance to make it more comprehensive and creating

consistency.

Consensus to accept what has been presented by Mielnik for tonight’s packet, Articles 1-4.

b. Review proposed ZO restructure and determine which should be updated now and which should wait for the

completion of the master plan was included in the previous discussion.

3. Joint Township Board (TB) and Planning Commission (PC) meeting discussion.  Looking to get the dates of

availability from the Board.  PC selected two dates:  Thursday, December 13 or 14 for possible joint meeting.

New Business: 

1. Elk Rapids Public School Superintendent, Bryan McKenna, sustaining and maintaining ER Schools.

Presentation was completed before Unfinished Business.

Next meetings: 

Master Plan Workshop, November 7, 7-9 p.m. at Mill Creek.  Helpers should be there by 6:30 p.m. 

ROS November 30 at 9 a.m. 

Joint TB/PC meeting TBD 

Regular PC – December 6:  Agenda:  Discussion of the workshop and zoning ordinance updates that may come from 

Public Comment: 

Denise Peltonen 

Commission Discussion/Comments:  

     Wroubel notes we are not changing, we are clarifying, not just one thing but through the whole thing.  

     Use the word clarify instead of change. 

     Key Notes to share with TB:  Share the dates for the joint meeting;    

     Action Items for PC members, DeYoung will add to the chart regarding the clarification and change. 

Continuing Education:  None  

Adjournment: 9:50 p.m.   

Tabled items:  Article 5 Districts; Article 25, Special Use Permits:  Campgrounds 

Respectfully Submitted 

Lois MacLean,  

Recording Secretary  

4



DATE:  November 28, 2023 

TO:  Whitewater Township Planning Commission 

Whitewater Township Resident Outreach Subcommittee (ROS) 

FROM:  Barry Hicks, AICP, LIAA 

RE:  Master Plan Goals and Strategies Input Summery 

Whitewater Township residents participated in a number of public engagement events. Opportunities 

included a survey and two public workshops. The survey was conducted in coordination with Networks 

Northwest and the results are available on the township’s website.  The following report provides a 

summary of the results from the public workshops. 

Public engagement activities were kicked off in June of 2023 with the launch of a public survey that was 

mailed to residents. Copies of the survey were mailed to residents and the township received over 600 

responses. Survey questions included a mix of multiple‐choice questions and open‐ended comment 

questions. Question topics focused on the current and future growth of the township including eliciting 

opinions about the Town’s character and future development. After responses were received, the 

township worked with their consultants, North Place Planning, LLC, and the Land Information Access 

Association (LIAA), to develop a series of two public input sessions: 

 Session 1 – Public Open House

Date:    Thursday, September 28, 2023

Location:   Mill Creek Elementary School

Participants:  Approximately 80‐100

This session was a walk‐through style open house where participants could attend at their

convenience anytime between the hours of 4‐7pm.  Five stations were setup throughout the

room each station focused on a specific topic area.  Each station was comprised of multiple

poster‐boards that contained information specific to the topic. They also each had activities that

were designed to allow participants to vote on certain questions and leave open‐ended

feedback.

 Session 2 – Goals and Strategies

Date:    Tuesday, November 7, 2023

Location:   Mill Creek Elementary School

Participants:  Approximately 60+

Participants viewed a presentation that recapped the results of the survey and the open house.

They then received recommended Goals and Strategies that were developed by the consultants

that were based on the results of the input received through the public survey as well as the

open house.  Participants then reviewed the recommended goals and strategies and were asked

to agree, disagree, suggest edits, or suggest new goals and strategies.  They were also asked to

consider which goals they would like to see prioritized highest and to rank each one.

5



Participants were split into four groups and each group focused on a specific topic area. After 

group discussions, each group provided a presentation to the rest of the participants to explain 

their results. 

Advertising the public workshop began a few weeks prior to each meeting with announcements on the 

township’s website and on signs placed along major roads throughout the community. 

Public Open‐House 

Participants were asked to provide feedback at five stations set up around the cafeteria at Mill Creek 

Elementary School.  Each station discussed various topics such as zoning/land‐use, infrastructure, and 

development.  Below is a summary of the feedback received from each station at the open house. 

**Attached to this memo: Photos of each of the stations from the open house with the results. 

Public Open House Summarized results 

2015 Master Plan 

 Respect private property rights. 

 Encouraging new development. 

 Do NOT streamline the permit process – what does this mean?  Do residents not like the current 

the process? What is working or not working in the ordinances or permit process? 

o Identify what ordinances need work. 

o Differentiate between what should be policies vs guidelines. 

o Clarify zoning map. 

Zoning/Land‐Use 

Preserve, Enhance and Transform 

 Downtown Whitewater Township needs some attention – what specifically do we need to 

address here? 

 Corner of Crisp and Moore – traffic concerns, possibly a stop sign needed. 

 Petobego Creek Natural Area – some attention needed. 

 Battle Creek Natural Area – liked, but might need some attention. 

 Whitewater Township Park – liked, but might need some attention. 

 Trails in the southern portion of township are liked. 

 New development near M‐72 and Baggs road – potentially some room for resident concerns. 

Alternative Energy 

 A mix of support or dissent for alternative energy, specifically solar fields – concerns about siting 

and visual impact. 

 Some comments about wind energy – similar concerns to solar regarding visual impact. 

 Some comments and interest received regarding net‐zero emissions housing. 

Rural Character 

 Generally, all of the pictures received positive feedback with the exception of the red‐

commercial/newer looking barn. 

6



Development 

Housing 

 Most commercial development should be focused along M‐72 near Williamsburg Road 

Intersection. 

 Medium to high density residential areas should be near M‐72 near Williamsburg.  Some votes 

also focused near M‐72 between Skegemog Point Road and Baggs Road. 

 Most people favored low‐density, single family dwellings on larger lot sizes with some feedback 

received indicating the need for smaller lot sizes to allow for lower‐ to moderate‐income 

housing. 

 Traditional medium to high density single‐family residential neighborhoods as well as higher‐

density apartments or condos were not favored. 

o NOTE: Some exceptions for higher‐density apartments or condos were favored with 

more green/open space.  Lower height (one‐ to three‐ story max) would be better than 

anything taller. 

Commercial 

 Detached, single‐unit Commercial development along the M‐72 corridor is preferred. 

 Traditional Rural American architectural styling (such as a colonial or craftsman look with gables 

or hip‐roofs and porches), is preferred with materials such as wood or metal siding and roofs. 

Downtown 

 There is support to develop a more traditional downtown area in Williamsburg. 

 Traditional look with seating, pedestrian scale lighting and permeable/transparent storefronts 

are preferred. 

Infrastructure 

Trails 

 Generally, participants felt the trails were a positive attribute of the township. 

 Some comments received indicated there could be better signage at trail heads to help locate 

and identify trails. 

 Bike trails and walking trails could be separated. 

M‐72 and Traffic 

 Participants were overwhelmingly supportive of limiting curb‐cuts along M‐72 

o Improve safety and reduce the number of opportunities for accidents. 

o Combined curb‐cuts for multiple businesses. 

 Some concerns around who will pay for these improvements. 

Facilities 

 EMS and fire facility should use some improvement.  Some felt a new facility was needed or a 

combined EMS/Fire/Town Hall facility could be constructed. 

 Public Transportation – while many felt traffic control and safety were a high priority, the 

integration of more public transportation was not necessary at this time. 

7



 Town Hall ‐ Many comments received indicated the building was in good shape or needed minor 

repairs.  Most felt a new facility was not necessary. 

 A resident posed the question as to whether or not there should be septic field inspections on 

lakefront property.  This question was written on the general comment board and received 11 

“yes” votes and four “no” votes. 

General Feedback 

 Support for short‐term rentals is split between those opposed and those not opposed so long as 

there are restrictions or regulations in place. 

 The condition and the need for better/more maintenance were mentioned several times. 

 Many comments were directed towards enforcing the current ordinances. 

Master Plan Goals and Strategies Session 

Participants viewed a presentation that summarized the feedback that was received from the survey 

and open house. They were provided with worksheets that were developed by the consultants that 

outlined suggested goals and strategies to consider as well as some information sheets to describe some 

technical planning terms and zoning language in more detail. They were then split into four groups with 

each group focusing on a specific planning principle. Each group reviewed the suggested goals for their 

planning principal topic area and considered whether they agreed, disagreed, would suggest edits, or 

wanted to remove certain goals or add new ones. They then ranked the goals based on how they felt 

they should be prioritized. 

**Attached to this memo: a working document titled “Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, 

and Implementation.”  This is the document developed by the consultants that is comprised of the 

recommended goals and strategies. 

Session Outline 

The general outline for the session was as follows: 

 7:00 – 7:20pm 

The presentation welcomed participants and discussed the following topics: 

o What is a Master Plan and why are we doing this? 

o Project background, maps, and township demographics 

o Planning Enabling Act requirements 

o Timeline – what is complete, where are we today, what happens next? 

o Explanation of “S.M.A.R.T.” Goals 

o Explain Key Performance Indicators (KPI) – aka “measurability” 

o Explanation of policies and initiatives 

o Review goals developed by the Planning Consultant/ROS 

 

 7:20 – 7:30 pm 

o Discuss purpose of this evening’s exercise 

o Provide instructions for the groups 

 Ground rules and respect ‐ no criticism or judgement, focus on quality not 

quantity, and build on each other’s ideas 

 Role of the Moderator 

8



 Role of the “Group Leader/Note‐Taker” 

o Explain where/how groups will convene and split up 

 

 7:30 – 8:10 pm 

o Group activity – appoint a group leader/Note‐Taker 

o Review the proposed topic area and associated goals (as provided by the ROS) 

o Ask questions and discuss 

 What are our values (as it pertains to he assigned topic area)? 

 Where are we now? 

 Wouldn’t it be fantastic if … 

 what is liked, disliked, agreed with, disagreed with 

o Prioritize the goals 

 What do we ultimately want to achieve and why? 

 What can we do (resources available) and what will we do (five more years will 

not pass by without some measurable action)? 

 What is the timeline for each goal? 

 

 8:10 – 8:20 pm – BREAK TIME! 

 

 8:20 – 8:40 pm 

o Group presentations – what was discussed and why did you rank each goal where you 

did? 

o Audience participation – how does the rest of the room feel the group did?  Was 

anything missed?  Should we rearrange their rankings?  Could be done through round of 

applause. 

 8:40 – 8:45pm 

o Bringing it all together – recap each group’s goals/priorities 

o Discuss next steps in the planning process 

o Discuss how people can still participate – through public hearings/meetings, mail, email, 

etc. 

o Thanks! 

Goals and Strategies Session Summarized Results 

The following is the feedback received from the Goals and Strategies participants.  The order of the list is 

the order that the group ranked each potential goal. Goals that were not ranked are listed with bullet‐

points in front of them after the goals that were ranked.  Italicized fonts are notes from the groups.  

Goals that were added or deleted by the groups are denoted. 

 **Attached to this memo: the photos of the boards with notes from each group. 

Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and Property Owners 

1. Have a clear, well‐organized, and effective Zoning Ordinance 

No comments to revise – the group liked this goal. 

2. ADDED GOAL: Need to have more R‐1 zoning and all zones need review 

9



The township should have more R‐1, low density zoning, however, this district should not be 

located along the streams.  Streams should be protected, but may need a new zoning district or 

overlay district that may make more sense. 

3. Effectively address blight in Whitewater Township.     

Enforcement is key, which includes the ability to enforce.  Township should consider different 

degrees of infractions such as fines for minor offenses and municipal civil infractions for more 

severe offenses that are enforceable in court. 

4. Reduce future land use conflicts in Whitewater Township 

Do away with cumulative zoning; some districts, such as industrial, should not have single‐family 

homes in them.  Minimize the conflicts between such uses.  Provide clear definitions of each use 

in each zone. 

5. Provide effective landscaping and buffering requirements in the Zoning Ordinance 

6. Have and maintain effective regulations regarding higher‐density residential development 

Goals that were not ranked or addressed by the group: 

 Have and maintain practical regulations concerning alternative energy facilities in Whitewater 

Township opportunities to develop a corridor plan for M‐72 with the newly created 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and associated potential funding. 

Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character 

1. Have regulatory tools necessary to help maintain rural character 

There should be a lot size minimum in low‐density districts.  This may require additional study by 

the Planning Commission to determine an appropriate size.  The group discussion generally 

favored a 1 acre lot minimum so that the cost would not be prohibitive to new families or people 

moving in, but there was some concern about the density of the homes being too great at that 

level.  The group felt the depth to width ration of 4:1 in the zoning ordinance was decent.  It was 

noted that lot size was crucial and the most important goal in maintaining a rural character. 

2. Maintain the rural qualities of M‐72 east of Cook Road 

3. Eliminate the R‐1 Zoning District along the creeks and tributaries 

4. Re‐evaluate the repeal of Article 27: Regulations for Environmentally Sensitive Areas 

5. Create an improved PUD Zoning District that developers are inclined to use 

6. Review and update zoning requirements to further support agricultural tourism 

7. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design 

guidelines 

8. Update the existing “Road Plan” for Whitewater Township 

 

 

10



Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community 

1. Attract and encourage redevelopment in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of M‐72 and west 

of Elk Lake Road). 

Expand higher density development to the northwest of Williamsburg utilizing PUDs 

2. Evaluate permitted uses and development standards in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of 

M‐72 and west of Elk Lake Road) to ensure they align with the development concept of a 

downtown‐type setting with small‐scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper‐

floor housing. 

Village general zoning needs to be changed and could include residential as an incidental or 

secondary use that would encourage a mix of residences and commercial uses.  Could also 

include townhomes. 

3. Encourage investigations into discovering feasible central water and sewer options to support 

more intensive development in Williamsburg 

Sewer and water would be very expensive.  Explore opportunities to partner with the tribe/casino 

or consider other options to offset cost. 

4. ADDED GOAL – Address Blight 

No additional comment 

Goals that were not ranked or addressed by the group: 

 Pursue opportunities to develop a corridor plan for M‐72 with the newly created Metropolitan 

Planning Organization (MPO) and associated potential funding. 

 Develop a general non‐motorized plan for Whitewater Township 

 Create a local community development foundation (CDF) or establish partnerships with existing 

CDF’s. 

 Maintain and Develop Partnerships with the Elk Rapids School District 

 

Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportunities 

1. Pursue designation as a “Redevelopment Ready Community” through the Michigan Economic 

Development Corporation (MEDC) 

Grants and guidance from the state would be key to developing Downtown Williamsburg as well 

as other infrastructure needed to support higher density development. 

2. Update the C‐1 (Commercial) Zoning District 

Update to protect property rights, improve facades, and improve trees and landscaping. 

3. Update the N‐1 (Industrial) Zoning District 

Expand the industrial area or possibly add a second area. 

4. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design 

guidelines in C‐1 (Commercial) 

11



Only should apply to commercial districts, not residential.  Add tree and landscape standards, 

enhance signage requirements and reduce the timeframe for approval. 

5. Address the issue of Short‐Term‐Rentals (STR) in Whitewater Township 

2/3 of residents say yes to allowing short‐term rentals with some kind of regulation; possibly use 

a licensing system and limit the number each household could obtain. 

6. Define and capitalize on the potential to use existing rail networks 

Could better utilize the abandoned rail track south of downtown Williamsburg. 

7. Invest in township facilities as development catalysts 

School property could be used as a multi‐purpose building, such as a shared community center 

space. 

 

**Attachments: 

 Open House – Photos of each of the panels from the five stations used to collect public input 

 Goals and Strategies Session – “Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and 

Implementation” document used in the workshop 

 Goals and Strategies Session – Planning Workshop Resource Sheets used during the workshop 

 Goals and Strategies Session – Photos of the boards from each group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



Attachment 1: 

Open House – Photos of each of the panels from the five stations used to collect public input 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13



Open House Sta�on: 2015 Master Plan 

 

14



 

 

15



Open House Sta�on: Zoning/Land-Use

16



 

17



 

 

18



 

 

19



 

 

20



Open House Sta�on: Development 

 

21



 

 

22



 

 

23



 

 

24



 

 

25



Open House Sta�on: Infrastructure 

 

26



 

 

27



 

 

28



 

 

29



Open House Sta�on: General Feedback 

 

30



 

 

31



Attachment 2: 

Goals and Strategies Session – “Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and Implementation” 

document used in the workshop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

32



Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and 
Implementation 

 

Ul�mately, a community master plan must chart a course for the future.  While a community’s 

vision for itself in the future can be expressed in mul�ple ways, the essen�al elements of 

community planning come down to defining where a community “wants to go” and 

implementa�on steps describing “how it intends to get there.”    

The steps to define “where Whitewater Township intends to go” began by revisi�ng the goals 

described in the 2015 Master Plan.  This review revealed the fact that the four master plan goals 

(and bullets thereunder) are not goals in a strict sense but rather are general statements about 

what Whitewater Township values and hopes to encourage.  These overarching principles are 

per�nent to many local planning issues but do not ar�culate a clear policy or provide ac�onable 

steps forward.  They can, however, be used as a framework for more specific, ac�onable goals 
and implementa�on steps.       

In considering and developing more specific community goals, two major considera�ons were 

to view them through the lens of current community a�tudes (survey and workshops) and use 
a framework called “SMART goals” as much as possible.  SMART goals help to define clear, 

realis�c, and measurable targets.  SMART is an acronym that stands for: 

Specific: The goal should be well-defined and clear.  
Measurable: The goal should have criteria for measuring progress and success.  
Achievable: The goal should be atainable and not impossible.  
Realis�c: The goal should be within reach and relevant.   
Time-bound: The goal should have a clear start and end date. 
 
Given the development of SMART goals, implementa�on steps in a community master plan 

o�en fall into two general categories.   First, policies are developed to help the community 

respond to future requests for ac�on or provide guidance for future ac�ons as opportuni�es 

present themselves.  This might include informa�on on how to respond to future rezoning 

requests.  Second, ini�a�ves are developed to define ac�on items that must be completed to 

achieve something.  This might include developing new zoning standards, procedures, or special 

planning studies to address a key issue.    Defined ini�a�ves should be associated with a sense 

of priority and �meframe.   

 

33



Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and 
Property Owners. 
 
Context: The rights of residents and property owners can be infringed upon in several ways.  These include: 
 

1. No one is served by poorly drafted or ambiguous zoning requirements that create confusion, permitting delays, 
and legal challenges.   

2. A lack of consistent zoning enforcement can leave property owners unprotected from nuisances and diminish 
property values.   

3. Blighted areas in Whitewater Township reduce property values and discourage investment.  
4. Existing permitted and special uses in various zoning districts may create land use con�licts (i.e., residential 

uses are currently allowed in the industrial zone). 
5. Effective and reasonable landscaping requirements in the zoning ordinance can mitigate visual and noise 

impacts between dissimilar land uses.     
 
Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy  

1. Have a clear, well-organized, and effec�ve Zoning Ordinance.   This includes current and future 
steps to improve the clarity of the exis�ng zoning ordinance so that requirements and standards 
are unambiguous.   This also includes preparing, upda�ng, and adop�ng a Zoning Map linked to 
the Zoning Ordinance that plainly defines the boundaries of all zoning districts. 

X  

2. Effec�vely address blight in Whitewater Township.    Specific steps include upda�ng the 
Township Junk Ordinance (38) (and any other related ordinance) as necessary and providing for an 
effec�ve enforcement mechanism as required to ensure compliance.  

X  

3. Reduce future land use conflicts in Whitewater Township.   Presently, the Whitewater Township 
Zoning Ordinance is cumula�ve (for example, all uses are permited in the Industrial Zoning 
District).  Specific steps include a review of all permited and special uses in all zoning districts to 
ensure that they are generally harmonious and compa�ble.  This is also an ongoing process as 
new land uses and development trends emerge.    

X X 

4. Provide effec�ve landscaping and buffering requirements in the Zoning Ordinance.     Specific 
steps include reviewing and upda�ng exis�ng landscaping requirements, par�cularly regarding 
buffering, ligh�ng, and noise for land uses that may have off-site impacts. 

X  

5. Have and maintain effec�ve regula�ons regarding higher-density residen�al development.   
Specific steps include a review of permited density, required open space, parking area loca�ons, 
ligh�ng, etc.  This is also an ongoing process as development trends emerge.    

X X 

6. Have and maintain prac�cal regula�ons concerning alterna�ve energy facili�es in Whitewater 
Township.  Specific steps include crea�ng basic regula�ons to allow for the development of local 
alterna�ve energy produc�on (solar panels, wind).  Such regula�ons provide safeguards to 
mi�gate off-site impacts.  This is also an ongoing process as technology evolves.      

X X 

34



Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character 
 
Context: Residents value the rural character of Whitewater Township and want to preserve it.   Additionally:  
 
1. To residents, the area's rural character is the presence of orchards, farm stands, other agricultural land, woodlots 

and forests, and extended views of undeveloped land across the landscape.  
2. Preserving rural character also includes protecting the environmental integrity of the Township �loodplains, 

wetlands, watersheds, and water bodies. 
3. Land east of Cook Road on M-72 is largely zoned A-1.  
4. There is strong support for agricultural tourism as a broad category of activities that can include roadside stands, u-

pick operations, and other activities incidental to the operation of a farm that brings members of the public to the 
farm for educational, recreational, or retail purposes.    

 
 
Poten�al Goals 

 
Ini�a�ve 

 
Policy  

1. Have regulatory tools necessary to help maintain rural character.    Specific steps include a 
focused effort to iden�fy and evaluate poten�al new tools to minimize impacts on rural character.  
Primary op�ons include 1) a focus on permited density (units per acre to keep housing units more 
spread out) and/or 2) more stringent requirements on landscape design (home placements, 
retaining natural vegeta�on, na�ve plan�ngs, visual blocks, etc.).    

X 
 

 
 

2. Maintain the rural quali�es of M-72 east of Cook Road.   Land next to M-72 and east of Cook 
Road is now zoned Agricultural (A-1).   The policy of Whitewater Township should be to discourage 
rezoning of Agriculturally-zoned land on M-72 east of Cook Road to Commercial (C-1) or other 
more intensive development zoning districts.      

 X 

3. Create an improved PUD Zoning District that developers are inclined to use.   Specific steps 
include upda�ng the exis�ng PUD Zoning District to include regulatory incen�ves.  A PUD should 
be an atrac�ve op�on, allowing for residen�al density to be clustered with the preserva�on of 
unique environmental and landscape features that contribute to rural character.  

X  

4. Review and update zoning requirements to further support agricultural tourism.  Specific steps 
include reviewing exis�ng zoning requirements for roadside stands, farm markets, u-pick 
opera�ons, and other related ac�vi�es incidental to farm opera�ons.   A zoning amendment 
would be necessary to align requirements with desirable development ac�vity.   

X 
 

 

5. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design 
guidelines.  Local preferences point toward favoring architectural styles that reflect rural quali�es.  
Voluntary or mandatory architectural design guidelines could be based on survey and open house 
findings and addi�onal study to ar�culate desirable features to be included in new construc�on.  
This would apply to new commercial, industrial, and mul�-family development; this would not 
apply to single-family residences. 

X  

6. Eliminate the R-1 Zoning District along the creeks and tributaries.    Presently, land along streams 
and tributaries in Whitewater Township is zoned R-1 (a higher density and more intensive zoning 
district than A-1).  This encourages more development in areas generally regarded as 
environmentally sensi�ve (wetlands/floodplains).   Specific steps include rezoning such property 
to A-1 (like adjacent property).     

X  

7. Update the exis�ng “Road Plan” for Whitewater Township.    Specific steps include reviewing the 
current Road Plan in the context of seeking the designa�on of local roads as Natural Beauty Roads 
per the Natural Beauty Road Act (Act 451 of the Public Acts of 1994).   Such designa�on provides 
some protec�ons concerning mowing, use of herbicides, tree removal, etc.  

X  

8. Re-evaluate the repeal of Ar�cle 27.   Ar�cle 27 contained regula�ons for Environmentally 
sensi�ve areas (wetlands, steep slopes, shorelines, etc.).  This Ar�cle was eliminated in 2019.  
While this ar�cle may have shortcomings, some useful requirements should be considered for 
reinstated in a new zoning amendment.  A review of Ar�cle 27 is warranted, and a replacement 
should be considered as necessary to address important issues.  

X  

35



Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community 
 
Context: Like many small rural communities, Whitewater Township lacks a de�ined downtown and sense of place 
common in cities and villages.  However, Williamsburg was once a commercial center, but many buildings are now gone.   
Additionally:    
 
1. Three out of four survey respondents want to encourage redevelopment of Williamsburg, north of M-72, into a 

downtown-type setting with small-scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper-�loor housing. 
2. Most, if not all, of the land uses in Williamsburg (south of M-72) are now residential (except for the Township Hall 

and the Methodist Church).  
3. Places for social and cultural activities and interaction (farmers market, car shows, concerts, senior programs, etc.) 

are limited (except for the township park).   
4. The area west of Elk Lake Road and North of M-72 is zoned “V” (Village). 
5. Residents point to the need to develop more convenient bike trails and walking paths in Whitewater Township.  

More non-motorized transportation options in Whitewater Township would help build a sense of community.  
Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy  

1. Evaluate permited uses and development standards in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of 
M-72 and west of Elk Lake Road) to ensure they align with the development concept of a 
downtown-type se�ng with small-scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper-
floor housing.   Steps toward this goal may include preparing and refining land use sketches 
showing building mass, placement, and parking area loca�ons.  This is followed by a zoning 
amendment(s) to eliminate regulatory barriers to a desirable development patern.   

X  

2. Atract and encourage redevelopment in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of M-72 and west 
of Elk Lake Road).   This might include partnerships with the Michigan Economic Development 
Corpora�on and other local or regional economic development en��es.   

 X 

3. Pursue opportuni�es to develop a corridor plan for M-72 with the newly created Metropolitan 
Planning Organiza�on (MPO) and associated poten�al funding.   Such a plan would iden�fy ways 
to manage access to adjacent property as it develops to lessen conges�on and increase traffic 
safety.  This poten�ally includes topics such as future signals, roundabouts, access roads, 
combined access drives, turn lanes, decelera�on lanes, etc., and allows for coordinated land use 
and transporta�on planning.  

X X 

4. Encourage inves�ga�ons into discovering feasible central water and sewer op�ons to support 
more intensive development in Williamsburg.  Con�nue to study and support inves�ga�ons into 
possible central water and sewer op�ons to reduce concerns over pollu�on and water supply and 
to support more intensive development in Williamsburg proper.     

 X 

5. Develop a general non-motorized plan for Whitewater Township.  Such a plan defines 
opportuni�es for bike and walking trails and creates a list of long and near-term projects that 
would connect to a regional non-motorized network and community facili�es such as parks and 
schools.  It may include paved road shoulders and standalone trails.  Emerging partnerships 
include TART, the Grand Traverse County Road Commission, and the newly formed MPO.  

X  

6. Create a local community development founda�on (CDF) or establish partnerships with exis�ng 
CDF’s.   Encourage and support the crea�on of a local community development founda�on to 
assist with community projects related to educa�on, environmental projects, or economic 
development efforts.  Such an en�ty could be a local non-profit corpora�on, or partnerships with 
en��es such as the Grand Traverse Regional Community Founda�on could be formed or 
strengthened.  

X  

7. Maintain and Develop Partnerships with the Elk Rapids School District.   A focus on the Mill 
Creek School is warranted, given current enrollment and facility issues.  At the same �me, a 
growing community raises issues about needs such as libraries, senior centers, and related public 
space needs.    Coordinated planning (especially regarding facili�es and public buildings) is 
desirable and warranted.      

 X 

36



Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportunities 
 
Context: Whitewater Township is pro-business and seeks to provide an environment wherein people can succeed 
economically. Additionally:  
 
1. Whitewater Township has an industrial area (generally south of M-72, West of Williamsburg Rd and east of Moore 

Road).  It is home to several light industrial uses that provide jobs and a local tax base.   
2. The M-72 corridor (west of Cook Road) presents opportunities for new commercial development. Residents 

generally desire smaller building footprints (75,000 square feet or less), mixed uses (potentially retail, services, 
of�ice, residential, etc.), controlled signage, limited driveways, limited site lighting, and extensive landscaping.   

   
Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy  

1. Pursue designa�on as a “Redevelopment Ready Community” through the Michigan Economic 
Development Corpora�on (MEDC).   This cer�fica�on process signals that a community has clear 
development policies and procedures, a community-supported vision, a predictable review 
process, and compelling sites for developers to locate their latest projects. 

 X 

2. Update the C-1 (Commercial) Zoning District.   Specific steps include reviewing permited uses, 
special uses, and development standards (lot sizes, setbacks, and maximum building size 
limita�ons align with desired development scenarios). Poten�al updates in a future zoning 
amendment align with the community survey results and feedback from the open house.   

X  

3. Update the N-1 (Industrial) Zoning District.   Specific steps include reviewing permited uses, 
special uses, and development standards (lot sizes, setbacks, and maximum building size 
limita�ons) to align with desired development scenarios.  Par�cular aten�on should be focused 
on uses currently allowed that are not industrial.     

X  

4. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design 
guidelines in C-1 (Commercial).  Determine if architectural design guidelines (voluntary or 
mandatory) are appropriate to further rural character in new non-residen�al buildings in the C-1 
Zone. Local preferences point toward favoring architectural styles that reflect rural quali�es.  
Voluntary or mandatory architectural design guidelines could be based on survey and open house 
findings and addi�onal study to ar�culate desirable features to be included in new construc�on.     

X  

5. Address the issue of Short-Term-Rentals (STR) in Whitewater Township.  Zoning regula�ons 
should be clarified, and new / updated regula�ons should reflect recent survey results and other 
feedback obtained through the Master Plan process.  Any steps forward in terms of new or revised 
regula�ons should take into account any legisla�ve changes at the state level. 

X  

6. Define and capitalize on the poten�al to use exis�ng rail networks.  The exis�ng rail line west of 
the post office may present development/redevelopment opportuni�es for Whitewater Township.  
This might include new recrea�on atrac�ons such as u�lizing abandoned railways for rail bikes or 
other forms of transporta�on.   Whitewater Township should encourage and support efforts to 
use this exis�ng rail bed and right-of-way for purposes that help s�mulate redevelopment of this 
area.  

 X 

7. Invest in township facili�es as development catalysts.  Township and public facili�es (such as 
EMS, fire protec�on, township hall, etc.) are necessary to support quality public services.   From a 
planning perspec�ve, there are opportuni�es to co-locate facili�es in ways that help support 
development and redevelopment.   The Township Board, Planning Commission, and School Board 
should maintain close communica�on and collabora�on to ensure related decisions create 
synergy, efficiency, and development catalysts where possible.       

 X 

 

     

37



Attachment 3: 

Goals and Strategies Session – Planning Workshop Resource Sheets used during the workshop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

38



 

 
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP  

PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES  

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

 

 

 

GENERAL ZONING INFORMATION 
Like most Michigan Townships, Whitewater has a Zoning Ordinance.  It was first adopted in 1972 
and it divides the township into 11 Zoning Districts (see map).  Each zoning district allows certain 
land uses.  Some uses are “permitted” and some are “special uses.”   Special uses require 
Planning Commission review and approval.  Each zoning district has development standards 
(minimum lot sizes, building setbacks, etc.).  These are summarized below:  

R-1 RESIDENTIAL  

Permitted Uses Such As: Single family dwellings, 
parks, churches (less than 5,000 square feet), etc.  

Special Uses Such As: Bed and Breakfasts, 
churches (more than 5,000 square feet), Planned 
Unit Developments  

Minimum Lot Size:  20,000 square feet 
 

R-2 RESIDENTIAL  

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted in R-1, 
two family dwellings, schools, libraries.  

Special Uses Such As: All special uses in R-1, 
Nursing homes,  

Minimum Lot Size:  12,000 square feet (1 fam.), 
22,000 (2 fam.) 

    

 
 

R-3 RESIDENTIAL  

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted in R-2, 
two family dwellings, schools, libraries.  

Special Uses Such As: All special uses in R-2, multi-
family dwellings, townhouses and apartments  

Minimum Lot Size:  12,000 square feet (1 fam.), 
11,000 square feet per dwelling unit.  
 

C-1 Commercial   

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses allowed in R-1 
and R-2, restaurants, offices, retail stores, 
equipment rental, personal services, daycare, 
churches. 

Special Uses Such As:  Any use in a building more 
than 10,000 square feet, drive thru, indoor 
recreation, multi-family, vet clinics, storage 
buildings, etc.  

Minimum Lot Size:  N/A  
 

V Village   

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses allowed in R-1, R-
2, R-3 and C in buildings with a footprint of less than 
5,000 square feet, apartments and offices located 
above commercial uses in mixed-use buildings 

Special Uses Such As:  Permitted Uses allowed in 
the R1, R2, R3, and C districts in buildings with a 
building footprint of 5,000 square feet or more, and 
any use in a building which exceeds 5,000 square 
feet, and drive-through services, or live 
entertainment., 

Minimum Lot Size:  NA 
 

39



 

 
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP  

PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES  

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N Industrial  

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted and as 
regulated within the Commercial, Village, and 
Residential Districts, wholesale warehouses, storage 
warehouses, billboards.  

Special Uses Such As:   Junk, scrap metal, or 
salvage yards, stock yards, slaughterhouses, 
rendering plants, meat or pelt processing 
establishments, heavy industry such as smelters, 
foundries, heavy industrial stamping operations, all 
special uses permitted within the Commercial, 
Village, and Residential Districts.  

Minimum Lot Size:  N/A 
 

A-1 Agricultural   

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted and as 
regulated in Residential District R- 2, Farming of all 
types, including the construction and maintenance 
of migrant worker's quarters, Riding academies and 
stables, veterinarian hospitals and kennels, farm 
markets, private family campgrounds.  

Special Uses Such As:   Commercial Campgrounds 

Minimum Lot Size:  40,000 square feet 

RC-1 Recreational   

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted and as 
regulated within R-2, Bed and breakfast 
establishments providing tourist/vacation 
accommodations, private family campgrounds, 
riding academies and stables, veterinarian hospitals 
and kennels, hydro-electric plants, State-owned 
conservation lands. 

Special Uses Such As:  Planned Unit Developments, 
commercial campgrounds 

Minimum Lot Size:  5 Acres 
 

40



 

 

WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP  

PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES  

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

Images: Dealing with Change in the Connecticut River Vally:  A Design Manual 

for Conservation and Development.  Lincoln Institute of Land Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planned Unit Developments (PUD) 
A PUD is a broad category of zoning that allows for more creativity in land planning, site design, 

and the protection of environmentally sensitive lands not possible with conventional zoning and 

development practices.  A PUD can allow for more compact development with common open 

space making, it easier to preserve environmental and scenic attributes of a site.  PUDs often allow 

for smaller lots on some parts of the site in exchange for permanently preserved common open 

space elsewhere on the site.   They can also allow for mixed uses (different housing types and non-

residential uses).   

Conventional Development   

Cluster Option with Preserved Open Space 

Conventional Development   

Cluster Option with Preserved Open Space    

41



 

 
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP  

PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES  

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

Evaluates a community’s zoning ordinance and how 
it meets community goals, enables the form and 
type of development the community is seeking and 
includes modern approaches to zoning. Zoning is a 
key tool for plan implementation and obsolete 
zoning regulations can discourage development and 
investment.   

 
 
Evaluates the community’s development review 
policies and procedures to ensure they integrate 
predictability throughout. Unnecessary steps or 
unclear instructions increase time and expenses 
associated with development. Community leaders 
should look to simplify and clarify policies and 
increase efficiency to create an inviting development 
climate that is vital to attracting investment. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REDEVELOPMENT READY 
COMMUNITIES (RRC) 
Several years ago, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) created a program 
called Redevelopment Ready Communities (RRC).  RRC is a voluntary technical assistance 
program offered by the (MEDC) to empower communities by building a strong foundation of 
planning, zoning, and economic development best practices.  RRC Technical Assistance (RRC TA) 
match funding is available. 

Some area communities now involved in the RRC program include: East Bay Charter Twp., Elk Rapids, Ellsworth, 

Garfield Charter Twp., Kalkaska, and Mancelona. 

Best Practice – 1 (Plans & Engagement) 
Evaluates community planning and how a 
community’s redevelopment vision is embedded in 
the master plan, capital improvements plan, and 
downtown plan or corridor plan(s). It also assesses 
how a community identifies its stakeholders and 
engages them, not only during planning processes, 
but on a continual basis. 

Best Practice 2 (Zoning) 

Best Practice 3 (Development Review) 

Assesses the tools a community has put in place to 
strengthen their boards and commissions. Diversity 
on boards and commissions can ensure a wide range 
of perspectives are considered when making 
decisions on development and financial incentives. 
Being intentional when a community conducts 
recruitment and orientation for newly appointed or 
elected officials and board members creates a solid 
foundation for the community to build upon. 
 

Best Practice 4 (Boards & Commissions) 

Best Practice 5 (Economic Development & 
Marketing) 

Assess the community’s plans to strengthen its 
overall economic health and market itself to create 
community pride and increase investor confidence. 
Today, economic development means more than 
business attraction and retention. While business 
development is a core value, a community needs to 
include community development and talent in the 
overall equation for economic success. 

Best Practice 6 (Redevelopment Ready Sites) 

Assesses how a community identifies, envisions, and 
markets their priority redevelopment sites. Instead of 
waiting for developers to propose projects, 
Redevelopment Ready Communities identify priority 
sites and prepare information to assist developers in 
finding opportunities that match the community’s vision. 

42



Attachment 4: 

Goals and Strategies Session – Photos of the boards from each group 

 

 

43



Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and Property Owners 

 

44



Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character 

 

45



Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community 

 

46



Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportuni�es 

 

47



���
��48

This memo was in the January 2023 Regular PC meeting packet and is included here to aid in our discussion of the ROS function/s and/or necessity moving forward.  



� ������������

��49



50



51



 

 

PAGE 1 OF 9 

 

 

  Whitewater Township Planning Commission Bylaws 

Adoption Date: July 12, 2023 

 

 
The following rules of procedure are hereby adopted by the Whitewater Township Planning 
Commission to facilitate the performance of its duties as outlined in the Michigan Planning 
Enabling Act, Public Act 33 of 2008, MCL 125.3801, et seq., and the Michigan Zoning Enabling 
Act, Public Act 110 of 2006, MCL 125.3101, et seq.  

SECTION 1: MEMBERSHIP  

A. Membership Size - The Planning Commission (PC) shall consist of seven (7) 
members.   

B. Membership Terms of Office – Members are appointed by the Township Supervisor 
for staggered three-year terms with the approval of the Township Board and expire 
December 31.  Members are expected to take the Oath of Office and serve until their 
term expires and a successor has been appointed as provided above.    

C. Membership Departure - Members who are unable or unwilling to serve the entire 
terms for which they were appointed or who do not wish to be considered for 
reappointment shall provide sixty (60) days advance written notice of that fact to the 
Township Supervisor so that a successor may be appointed and approved in a timely 
manner that does not require the PC to function with less than the seven (7) members 
provided.   

D. Membership Qualification - All members shall be qualified electors of the Township 
of Whitewater, except that one member may be a non-qualified elector.  

E. Membership Representation - Membership shall be representative of the important 
segments of the community including:  

 Agriculture  

 Natural Resources/Environmental  

 Recreation  

 Education  

 Public Health/Safety 

 Government  

 Transportation  

 Industry  

 Commerce  

 Waterfront Owner  

 Building Trades  

 Resident at Large  

52



 

 

PAGE 2 OF 9 

 

 

F. Township Board Representation – One member of the Township Board shall serve 
as a member of the PC.  His/her term shall coincide with their term of office on the 
Whitewater Township Board of Trustees. The Township Supervisor is ineligible to 
serve in this capacity.  As a Township Board representative, he or she shall prepare 
and share a report on PC activities at Board meetings, and shall act as a primary 
liaison between the PC and the Board.  The Township Board representative shall also 
present proposed PC action items at Township Board meetings for consideration. The 
Township Board representative may not serve as an officer of the PC.  The Township 
Board representative shall also inform the PC of Township Board activities, actions, 
and goals.    

G. Zoning Board of Appeals Representation – The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act 
requires Townships that enact a zoning ordinance to have a Zoning Board of Appeals 
(ZBA). The ZBA is responsible for ruling on appeals of administrative decisions and 
zoning ordinance requirements.  The processes are explained in the ZBA handbook 
published by the Michigan Municipal League, and in the Whitewater Township Zoning 
Ordinance itself. One member of the PC shall be appointed by the supervisor to serve 
as a member of the (ZBA). His/her term shall coincide with their appointment to the 
PC.  The PC chair shall provide the supervisor with a recommendation for appointment 
following consultation with the PC membership.  The PC member reports to the ZBA 
on relevant PC actions, proposed ordinances and, developments etc..., and responds 
to questions regarding the spirit and intent of ordinances. The PC member reports 
back to the PC on ZBA decisions and any issues the ZBA would like assistance on.     

H. Meeting Participation - The Township Attorney, Planner, Zoning Administrator and 
any township planning staff shall have the ability to participate in discussions of the PC 
as they deliberate on agenda items during meetings.   

I. Zoning Administrator - The Zoning Administrator shall carry out all responsibilities 
associated with an employment contract, or job description (if an employee).  Such 
responsibilities should include assisting with the development of the PC annual report, 
preparation of required legal notices and preparation of materials needed to support 
development-related PC action items.  

J. Planner - Subject to applicable contractual terms, the Planner may assist with updates 
to the Master Plan and zoning ordinance amendments. The Planner may also assist 
with independent reviews of development-related PC action items (special use 
approvals, site plans, etc...).  

SECTION 2: OFFICERS  

A. Selection and Tenure - At the first regular meeting each January, the PC shall select 
a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Secretary. All officers shall serve a term of one 
year and shall be eligible for re-election for consecutive terms for the same office.  The 
newly elected officers shall assume their responsibilities at the next regular meeting.  If 
due to unforeseen circumstances, the PC is unable to elect officers at the January 
meeting, those officers whose terms as officers have expired and who remain as 
active members of the PC shall continue their services as officers until elections are 
held.  

53

Highlight

Highlight



 

 

PAGE 3 OF 9 

 

 

B. Chairperson - The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings, appoint committees and 
perform such other duties as may be ordered by the PC, including recommending the 
ZBA Representative to the Township Board when a vacancy occurs.  Other roles and 
responsibilities include:  

1. Preside at all meetings 

2. Appoint committees 

3. Agenda creation and submission  

4. Inform Clerk of any necessary meeting date and/or time changes within 48 hours of 
known change 

5. Create Action Item list and distribute within 72 business hours of meeting to PC 
members  

C. Vice Chairperson - The Vice Chairperson shall act in the capacity of the chairperson 
in his/her absence. In the event the office of Chairperson becomes vacant, the Vice 
Chairperson shall succeed to this office for the unexpired term, and the PC shall select 
a successor to the office of Vice Chairperson for the unexpired term.  

D. Secretary - The Secretary shall execute documents in the name of the PC and shall 
perform such other duties as the PC may determine. The Secretary may be assisted 
by a Recording Secretary and/or the Zoning Administrator in the performance of 
his/her duties. Other roles and responsibilities include: 

 Ensure hall setup is complete 5 minutes prior to meeting start time (mics checked, 
name tags, recording equipment, Zoom, chairs, tables, etc.) 

 Conduct Roll Calls 

 Monitor zoom & equipment 

 Take notes 

 Assist with meeting packet organization and posting in a timely manner.  

SECTION 3: MEETINGS  
The business the PC may perform shall be conducted at a public meeting held in compliance 
with the Open Meetings Act. The PC may establish reasonable rules and regulations in order to 
minimize the possibility of disrupting the meeting.  

A. Regular Meetings – Meetings of the PC shall be held on the First Wednesday of each 
month.  All meetings shall take place at Whitewater Township Hall, 5777 Vinton Road, 
Williamsburg, MI  49690 at 7:00 P.M.  When a regular meeting falls on a legal holiday 
or upon a day resulting in a conflict, the PC shall, if possible, select a suitable alternate 
meeting date in the same month as the originally scheduled meeting.  

 Notice of regular PC meetings shall be posted at Township Hall each year in 
accordance with the Open Meetings Act and on the township website.  

54



 

 

PAGE 4 OF 9 

 

 

B. Special Meetings - Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson or upon 
written request to the secretary by at least two members of the PC.  Notice of special 
meetings shall be given to the members of the PC at least 48 hours prior to the 
meeting. Such notice shall state the purpose, time and location of the special meeting 
and shall be posted in accordance with the Open Meetings Act.   

C. Notice - Notice required for specific planning, zoning or other land use actions will be 
given in accordance with the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, the Michigan Zoning 
Enabling Act, Land Division Act, or other applicable statute.  All PC agendas and 
notices will be posted on the Township website, whitewatertownship.org. and in all 
other Township designated locations.  

D. Public Hearings - All public hearings held by the PC must be held as part of a regular 
or special meeting of the PC.   

 Public Hearings that will result in the consideration of amending the Zoning 
Ordinance text or map shall be set by motion of the PC.  

 Public Hearings that are required for site plan and/or special use consideration 
may be set in accordance with the PC regular schedule by the Zoning 
Administrator.   

E. Agenda – Per, Section 2B above, the chairperson is responsible for preparing a 
tentative agenda, with assistance from the Zoning Administrator and/or Recording 
Secretary, if requested.  The agenda may be modified by quorum of the PC. The PC 
may only take action on items that appear on the agenda.  

F. Quorum - Four (4) members of the PC shall constitute a quorum for transacting 
business and taking official action for all matters with the exception of Master Plan 
adoption or amendments (see G below).  

G. Voting - An affirmative vote of 2/3 of the members of the PC is required to recommend 
approval of the master plan or amendments to the plan or to amend these bylaws. 
Unless otherwise required by statute, other actions or motions placed before the PC 
may be adopted by a majority vote of the members present and voting, as long as a 
quorum is present. Voting shall be by voice vote; a roll call vote shall be required if 
requested by any PC member or directed by the chairperson. Except in the case of 
conflict of interest, all PC members, including the Chairperson and ex officio member, 
shall vote on all matters.    

H. Public Records - All meetings, minutes, records, documents, correspondence and 
other materials of the PC shall be open to public inspection in accordance with the 
Freedom of Information Act, except as may otherwise be provided by law.  

I. Parliamentary Procedure – Parliamentary procedure in PC meetings shall be 
governed by Roberts Rules of Order.  

J. Subcommittees - The PC may establish subcommittees to aid in conducting business 
as described below. All subcommittees are advisory in nature and only capable of 
making recommendations to the full PC. 

 Executive Subcommittee: An Executive Committee consisting of the Chair, 
Vice-Chair, and Secretary of the PC may consider matters related to budgets, 
contracts, and similar administrative items and draft a report containing 

55



 

 

PAGE 5 OF 9 

 

 

recommendations as to those items. The report shall be presented to the entire 
PC, who may amend, adopt, or veto the recommendation contained therein. 

 

 Ad Hoc Subcommittees: The PC may establish and appoint members and 
other individuals to ad hoc subcommittees for purposes related to the duties of 
the PC. A new subcommittee may be formed when the PC identifies an issue 
that needs attention, substantial discussion, or investigation. Each 
subcommittee shall be titled to ensure notices, agendas, packets, payments, 
and documentation can be easily identified. This will also help delineate if the 
subcommittee is advisory and only capable of making recommendations 
concerning a particular subject matter. 

a. Chair and Report: Each subcommittee shall appoint a chair, who shall 
be responsible for drafting and submitting a report to the PC included in 
the PC Regular Meeting packet, summarizing the subcommittee’s 
findings and recommendations. The subcommittee chair must be a 
member of the PC. All subcommittees serve the entire PC, and the 
recommendations offered to the PC are subject to review, amendment, 
or veto. 

b. Ad Hoc Membership: The size of a subcommittee can vary as the PC 
deems fit. Subcommittees can be made up of both PC members and 
individuals who are not PC members. However, at no time shall a 
quorum of PC members serve on an ad hoc subcommittee. 

 

 Subcommittee Operation: 

a. The subcommittee chairperson shall conduct the meeting, and a quorum 
shall consist of at least half of the total membership of the subcommittee. 

b. Subcommittee meetings are not “meetings” under the Michigan Open 
Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 et seq. 

c. Motions are adopted by a majority vote of the members present and 
voting with a quorum present. Only subcommittee members physically 
present at a meeting are eligible to cast a vote. 

d. If any subcommittee member is absent for three consecutively scheduled 
meetings, the PC may remove such member from the subcommittee. 

e. Minutes of meetings shall be prepared in the same format used by the 
PC and filed in the same manner as PC minutes. 

f. Subcommittee meetings are open meetings for public attendance and 
participation, and minutes of the meetings are to be available for public 
inspection. Subcommittee meetings may be open for public attendance 
and participation via videoconference software, such as Zoom. 

g. Subcommittee members, including residents, may be paid according to 
the salary and wage schedule adopted by the Township Board. Non-PC 
members on a subcommittee must complete payroll paperwork with the 
Clerk before payments are processed. 

SECTION 4: DUTIES OF THE PC  
The PC shall perform the following duties:  

56



 

 

PAGE 6 OF 9 

 

 

A. Prepare, review, and update a master plan as a guide for development within the 
Township’s planning jurisdiction.  

B. Take such action on petitions, staff proposals and Township Board requests for 
amendments to the Zoning Ordinance as required.  

C. Take such action on petitions, staff proposals and Township Board requests for 
amendments to the Master Plan as required.  

D. At the beginning of each year the Chairperson shall appoint one member of the PC to 
prepare an annual written report of the PC’s accomplishments, development and 
planning activities for the Township Board. As required by the Michigan Planning 
Enabling Act, this report will include the status of planning activities, including 
recommendations regarding actions by the Township Board. This report will be 
presented to the PC for approval before presentation to the Township Board.   

E. Take such actions as authorized or required by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act.  

F. Take such actions as authorized or required by the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, and 
Whitewater Township Zoning Ordinance.  

G. Review, approve and submit an annual budget to the Supervisor, on or before the first 
Township Board meeting in January of each year.   

H. Perform other duties and responsibilities or respond as requested by any Township 
Board or Commission.  

SECTION 5: ABSENCES AND REMOVALS   

A. To be excused, members of the PC shall notify the PC Chairperson, or Township Staff 
when they intend to be absent from a meeting. Failure to make this notification prior to 
the meeting shall result in an unexcused absence.  

B. Members may be removed by the Township Board for misfeasance, malfeasance, or 
nonfeasance in office upon written charges and after a public hearing.  

C. Following three consecutive absences or six within any 12-month period, the PC 
Chairperson shall present to the Township Board a recommendation for dismissal or 
continued service of a member.     

SECTION 6: CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
During the Declaration of Conflict of Interest portion of the agenda, PC member(s) shall disclose 
the potential conflict of interest to the full PC membership.  Failure of a member to disclose a 
potential conflict of interest as required by these bylaws constitutes malfeasance in office.  

57



 

 

PAGE 7 OF 9 

 

 

Conflict of interest is defined as, and a PC member shall declare a conflict of interest and 
abstain from participating in PC deliberations and voting on a request, when:   

A. An immediate family member is involved in any request for which the PC is asked to 
make a decision. “Immediate family member” is defined as a spouse, mother, father, 
sister, brother, son, or daughter, including an adopted child.  

B. The PC member has a business or financial interest in the property involved in the 
request or has a business or financial interest in the applicant’s company, agency or 
association.  

C. The PC member owns, or has a financial interest in, property that is required to receive 
a notice of a public hearing as required by the Whitewater Township Zoning Ordinance 
on an application under consideration by the PC.  A financial interest is herein defined 
as an ownership stake in an equity security or debt security issued by an entity, 
including the rights and obligations to acquire such an interest.   

D. These guidelines shall be superseded when the “rule of necessity” is invoked.   

  
If there is a question whether a conflict of interest exists or not, the question shall be put before 
the PC.  Whether a conflict of interest exists or not shall be determined by a majority vote of the 
remaining members of the PC.  

In the event that a conflict is declared, the member shall remove themselves from the meeting 
table until the agenda item is concluded.   

SECTION 7:  COMPENSATION   

PC members will receive compensation on a per meeting basis as determined by the Township 
of Whitewater Board of Trustees.  PC members may receive reimbursement for travel and 
expenses with recommendation by the PC and approval by the Township Board.  

SECTION 8:  EDUCATION  

Members shall complete one training/educational program each year. Training may be provided 
when available at regular meetings of the PC by other PC members, the Planner or Zoning 
Administrator and will qualify as acceptable training.  Additional training from professional or 
educational organizations is also encouraged.   

SECTION 9:  ORDER OF BUSINESS  
The order of business shall be as follows:  

 

 

 

 

58



 

 

PAGE 8 OF 9 

 

 

 Mic Check, Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance  

 Roll Call of PC Members  

 Set/Adjust Meeting Agenda  

 Declaration of Conflict of Interest pertinent to agenda items 

 Public Comment – Any person shall be permitted to address a meeting of the PC.  
Public comments shall be carried out in accordance with the following rules and 
procedures:   

a. Comments shall be directed to the PC, with questions directed to the Chair.  
b. Any person wishing to address the PC shall speak from the lectern (or use raise 

hand feature if Zoom is being utilized) and state his/her name and address.  
c. Persons may address the PC on matters that are relevant to Township planning 

and zoning issues.  
d. No person shall be allowed to speak more than once on the same matter, 

excluding the time needed to answer a PC members’ questions.   
e. Public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per person. 

  

 Public Hearing  

a. Open public hearing/ state time.  
b. Request those attending sign attendance sheet.  
c. State date of public hearing notice publication and newspaper published in.  
d. State purpose of public hearing.  
e. Brief Introductory Presentation (Zoning Admin. Planner, Applicant/Agent, etc.).  
f. Read any written comments received.  
g. Receive public comment.  
h. Close public hearing/state time.  

 
Questions shall be addressed through the Chair during the public hearing.  PC 
discussion and action shall take place after the public hearing is closed.  Action may 
also take place at a subsequent PC meeting.   

 
 Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting(s)  

 Correspondence  

 Reports/Presentations/Announcements/Comments  

a. Zoning Administrator  
b. Chair  
c. Township Board Representative  
d. ZBA Representative  
e. Committee Reports  
f. Additional Items  

 

 Unfinished Business  

 New Business  

 Next Meeting Agenda (Review action items, due dates, meeting date/time) 

 Public Comment  

 PC Discussion/Comments  

 Continuing Education (5-15 minutes at each meeting)  

 Adjournment  

59



 

 

PAGE 9 OF 9 

 

 

SECTION 10:  EX-PARTE COMMUNICATIONS 
Pursuant to the Open Meetings Act, a “meeting” is any gathering of a quorum of members of a 
governmental body to discuss, or take action on, official business or policy.  The term “meeting” 
also applies to information-gathering and fact-finding sessions at any location where a quorum 
of members is present and discussions include a public business item.  All meetings must be 
property noticed and advertised pursuant to the Open Meetings Act.    

Members of the PC may not email, text or engage in other forms of electronic communication 
during, or outside of formal meetings for the purpose of sharing information or asking questions 
related to any action item.  Additionally, it is the policy of the PC to not take part in meetings of 
three or more PC members at any location with an applicant to discuss a pending action item.  
Such communication may constitute deliberations toward decision-making or an actual decision.     

SECTION 11: SUBMITTAL DEADLINES  
To facilitate timely action on agenda items, it is the policy of the PC to require complete 
applications, applicable fees and related supporting material to be submitted to the Zoning 
Administrator no less than ten working days before a scheduled PC meeting. This provides time 
to review material, determine its completeness, place it on the meeting agenda and include all 
relevant materials in the meeting packet. If changes, updates, or additional information related 
to application for an action item is provided less than ten working days before a PC meeting, the 
PC reserves the right to defer consideration of such additional or updated material to a 
subsequent meeting.          

SECTION 12: MEETING PACKETS    
To ensure that PC members and the public have adequate time to review the agenda, and 
supporting materials for an upcoming meeting, the PC will aim toward making meeting packets 
available by the close of business on the day that is one week before the meeting.  Pursuant to 
Section 3A above, the packet should be available by 5 PM on the prior Wednesday.         

SECTION 13:  AMENDMENTS  
These bylaws may be amended at any time following a recommendation of the majority of the 
membership of the PC and subsequent notification to the Township Board. It is the policy of the 
PC to review these by-laws in January of each year and thereafter, make necessary changes to 
maintain a relevant and useful set of rules of conduct and practice.    

  

  

60

Highlight


	12.06.23 Regular PC Agenda - Copy
	WWT PC MINS 110123 DRAFT - Copy
	12.6.23 PC Packet
	Whitewater Twp Master Plan Public Input Results v1
	ADP4456.tmp
	Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and Implementation
	Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and Property Owners.
	Context: The rights of residents and property owners can be infringed upon in several ways.  These include:
	1. No one is served by poorly drafted or ambiguous zoning requirements that create confusion, permitting delays, and legal challenges.  
	2. A lack of consistent zoning enforcement can leave property owners unprotected from nuisances and diminish property values.  
	3. Blighted areas in Whitewater Township reduce property values and discourage investment. 
	4. Existing permitted and special uses in various zoning districts may create land use conflicts (i.e., residential uses are currently allowed in the industrial zone).
	5. Effective and reasonable landscaping requirements in the zoning ordinance can mitigate visual and noise impacts between dissimilar land uses.    

	Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character
	Context: Residents value the rural character of Whitewater Township and want to preserve it.   Additionally: 
	1. To residents, the area's rural character is the presence of orchards, farm stands, other agricultural land, woodlots and forests, and extended views of undeveloped land across the landscape. 
	2. Preserving rural character also includes protecting the environmental integrity of the Township floodplains, wetlands, watersheds, and water bodies.
	3. Land east of Cook Road on M-72 is largely zoned A-1. 
	4. There is strong support for agricultural tourism as a broad category of activities that can include roadside stands, u-pick operations, and other activities incidental to the operation of a farm that brings members of the public to the farm for educational, recreational, or retail purposes.   

	Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community
	Context: Like many small rural communities, Whitewater Township lacks a defined downtown and sense of place common in cities and villages.  However, Williamsburg was once a commercial center, but many buildings are now gone.   Additionally:   
	1. Three out of four survey respondents want to encourage redevelopment of Williamsburg, north of M-72, into a downtown-type setting with small-scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper-floor housing.
	2. Most, if not all, of the land uses in Williamsburg (south of M-72) are now residential (except for the Township Hall and the Methodist Church). 
	3. Places for social and cultural activities and interaction (farmers market, car shows, concerts, senior programs, etc.) are limited (except for the township park).  
	4. The area west of Elk Lake Road and North of M-72 is zoned “V” (Village).
	5. Residents point to the need to develop more convenient bike trails and walking paths in Whitewater Township.  More non-motorized transportation options in Whitewater Township would help build a sense of community. 

	Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportunities
	Context: Whitewater Township is pro-business and seeks to provide an environment wherein people can succeed economically. Additionally: 
	1. Whitewater Township has an industrial area (generally south of M-72, West of Williamsburg Rd and east of Moore Road).  It is home to several light industrial uses that provide jobs and a local tax base.  
	2. The M-72 corridor (west of Cook Road) presents opportunities for new commercial development. Residents generally desire smaller building footprints (75,000 square feet or less), mixed uses (potentially retail, services, office, residential, etc.), controlled signage, limited driveways, limited site lighting, and extensive landscaping.  



	agenda_packet_010422_ROS FORMATION
	DJI_0364
	DJI_0406
	Planning Commission Bylaws - July 2023




